Published for SISSA by 2 Springer



RECEIVED: October 25, 2024 REVISED: May 2, 2025 ACCEPTED: May 7, 2025 PUBLISHED: June 11, 2025

Quantum computation of SU(2) lattice gauge theory with continuous variables

Victor Ale^(b),^{*a*} Nora M. Bauer^(b),^{*a*} Raghav G. Jha^(b),^{*b*} Felix Ringer^(b),^{*c*,*d*} and George Siopsis^(b) a^{a}

- ^aDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, The University of Tennessee, Knoxville, TN 37996-1200, U.S.A.
- ^b Thomas Jefferson National Accelerator Facility, Newport News, VA 23606, U.S.A.
- ^cDepartment of Physics, Old Dominion University, Norfolk, VA 23529, U.S.A.
- ^dDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, Stony Brook University, New York 11794, U.S.A.
- *E-mail:* vale@vols.utk.edu, nbauer1@vols.utk.edu, raghav.govind.jha@gmail.com, felix.ringer@stonybrook.edu, siopsis@tennessee.edu

ABSTRACT: We present a quantum computational framework for pure SU(2) lattice gauge theory, using continuous variables instead of discrete qubits to represent the infinite-dimensional Hilbert space of the gauge fields. We consider a ladder as well as a two-dimensional grid of plaquettes, detailing the use of gauge fixing to reduce the degrees of freedom and simplify the Hamiltonian. We demonstrate how system dynamics, ground states, and energy gaps can be computed using the continuous-variable approach to quantum computing. Our results indicate that it is feasible to study non-Abelian gauge theories with continuous variables, providing new avenues for understanding the real-time dynamics of quantum field theories.

KEYWORDS: Gauge Symmetry, Lattice QCD, Lattice Quantum Field Theory, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2410.14580

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	SU(2) gauge theory on a spatial lattice	3
3	Single plaquette	4
4	Ladder of plaquettes	8
5	Two spatial dimensions	14
6	Quantum computation with qumodes	18
	6.1 QC with qumode quadruplets	18
	6.2 QC with qumode triplets	26
	6.3 Discussion of errors	26
7	Summary and future directions	28

1 Introduction

Quantum field theories with local gauge symmetries are central to modern fundamental physics as they form the foundation of the Standard Model of particle physics. The interactions in nature (except gravity) are governed by the $SU(3) \times SU(2) \times U(1)$ gauge symmetry. However, studying gauge theories beyond perturbation theory is challenging due to the lack of analytical tools. In his seminal work [1], Wilson introduced a method to study gauge theories, such as SU(3) gauge theory (the theory of the strong interaction), by discretizing Euclidean spacetime. Since then, these methods commonly referred to as 'lattice gauge theories' have enabled a range of precision computations, including the determination of hadron masses. The primary tools for these studies are large-scale Monte Carlo simulations. However, Monte Carlo methods have inherent limitations since they rely on real actions such as those in Euclidean space or non-complex actions. This is due to the nature of the algorithms where the exponential of the Euclidean lattice action is treated as a probability distribution. While certain workarounds exist for specific problems like elastic and low-energy scattering, the computational cost of many interesting problems is expected to be beyond the reach of classical computing. This generally includes real-time dynamics, transport coefficients, out-of-time-order correlators, chaos and thermalization, and finite-density properties of strongly interacting matter that require novel numerical methods. In lower dimensions, it is often possible to use tensor network methods to understand real-time dynamics [2, 3] and study complex actions [4, 5]but a general effective tool is missing for higher dimensions, especially in 3+1-dimensions.

A promising approach to address these challenges lies in large-scale quantum computing using the Hamiltonian formulation of lattice gauge theories. For quantum chromodynamics (QCD), this is a challenging problem due to the field content [6] as emphasized in the work by Feynman around the same time when he was thinking about the possibility of quantum computers. The application of quantum computing methods to theories with local gauge symmetries, such as QCD, is the central theme of this paper. However, to simplify the discussion, we limit ourselves to SU(2) gauge theory in one and two spatial dimensions, providing a foundation for future extensions toward QCD. Shortly after Wilson's pioneering work on lattice gauge theory, the Hamiltonian approach to non-Abelian lattice gauge theory was developed by Kogut and Susskind [7]. Since then, the Hamiltonian approach has been studied extensively [8–10] over the decades exploring different approaches such as the prepotential approach using Schwinger bosons [11, 12] and its recent extension known as the loop-string-hadron formulation [13]. However, challenges remain due to the hardness of simultaneous non-satisfiability of local dynamics, the correct continuum limit, and discrete quantum numbers.

With recent advances and the possibility of fault-tolerant quantum computers on the horizon, the Hamiltonian approach to field theories is gaining renewed interest. There has been a substantial amount of work related to the Hamiltonian approach to gauge theories; see refs. [14–28] and references therein. Several approaches have been developed for digitizing gauge theories, primarily focused on mapping the Hamiltonian to qubits or discrete variables. In this work, we focus instead on the use of continuous variables. The elementary building blocks of continuous-variable quantum computing are quindes or quantum mechanical harmonic oscillators that have an infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. One of the problems associated with the simulation of gauge theories using qubit-based quantum computers is that the infinite degrees of freedom corresponding to a continuous group symmetry have to be truncated [29]. Unlike fermions, where the degrees of freedom per lattice site are finite, simulating gauge fields with quinodes may therefore be more natural because of their formally infinite-dimensional Hilbert space. In this paper, we develop a formulation of the lattice Hamiltonian for SU(2) gauge theory that is well suited for continuous variable quantum computing. We study both the ground and excited state preparation using a coupled cluster ansatz as well as real-time dynamics. We work in the maximal tree gauge, which eliminates a large part of the unphysical degrees of freedom. We consider two approaches that require either three or four quides per physical link variable. This gauge-fixing procedure was first discussed in ref. [30] and subsequently followed in several recent studies [26, 28, 31–33]. This choice fixes all local gauge symmetries up to a global gauge transformation at the base of the maximal tree.

This work is an extension of our previous work on the continuous variable formulation of the O(3) model [34]. In that work, we demonstrated that it is possible to carry out quantum computations of this model using three quinodes per lattice site.¹ Here, we provide the first continuous variable exploration of a local non-Abelian gauge theory. In particular, we focus on open boundary conditions for a one-dimensional ladder or string of plaquettes and a two-dimensional square grid of plaquettes.

In ref. [36], SU(2) gauge theory in two Euclidean dimensions with matter in unitary gauge was studied using the character expansion around the strong coupling using the real-space

¹This requirement could be reduced to two quinodes [35] due to the requirement that unit vectors take values on a two-sphere.

tensor renormalization group method. This was done in the basis where the electric term of the Hamiltonian is diagonal, also referred to as the irreducible representation of the gauge group basis or simply the "electric" basis. However, as we approach the continuum limit, an increasingly large truncation is required. Since the electric and magnetic parts of the Hamiltonian do not commute, there is no common basis where both terms are diagonal. Another option that is often used is the "magnetic basis" where the magnetic Hamiltonian is diagonal. In addition, a mixed basis has been explored in ref. [26].

The paper is structured as follows. In section 2, we express the SU(2) gauge theory Hamiltonian in terms of quaternions exploiting the relation $SU(2) \otimes SU(2)/\mathbb{Z}_2 \equiv SO(4)$. In section 3, we consider the plaquette case in which the exact results are known for all values of the coupling. In this section, we also introduce the gauge-fixed Hamiltonian for the single plaquette. In section 4, we study a chain of plaquettes with open boundary conditions and compute the ground state energy density and gap while in section 5 we study the extension to two spatial dimensions. In section 6, we introduce our quantum algorithms based on qumodes for the simulation of SU(2) lattice gauge theory. We end the paper with a brief discussion on future extensions of our work in section 7.

2 SU(2) gauge theory on a spatial lattice

Gauge theory with a local SU(2) symmetry can be formulated in terms of matrices U(a) residing on a link labeled a along which one also defines the angular momentum operator $J_{\mu\nu}(a)$ ($\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$). We parameterize the unitary matrix as U(a) = $u_0(a)\mathbb{I} + i\vec{u}(a)\cdot\vec{\sigma}$, with the Pauli matrices $\vec{\sigma} = (\sigma_1, \sigma_2, \sigma_3)$ and unit quaternions $\boldsymbol{u}(a)$ satisfying $\boldsymbol{u}(a)\cdot \boldsymbol{\bar{u}}(a) \equiv u_0^2(a) + \vec{u}^2(a) = 1$. Using the analog of the angular momentum for the rigid rotator, we can write down the kinetic (electric) part of the SU(2) lattice Hamiltonian. The angular momentum at link a is defined as

$$J_{\mu\nu}(a) = -i \left(u_{\mu}(a) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{\nu}(a)} - u_{\nu}(a) \frac{\partial}{\partial u_{\mu}(a)} \right), \qquad (2.1)$$

with $\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$. The Hamiltonian discretized on a spatial lattice of arbitrary dimension can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{H} = g^{2}H, \quad \boldsymbol{H} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\text{links } a} J_{\mu\nu}^{2}(a) + \lambda \sum_{\Box} (1 - W[C])$$
(2.2)

where $\lambda = 4/g^4$ and the lattice spacing has been set to one. Our conventions follow ref. [7]. It is convenient to work with the scaled Hamiltonian H. Here, W[C] is the Wilson loop over the plaquette C consisting of links labeled 1, 2, 3, 4 joining lattice sites x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 . It is given by

$$W[C] = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr}[\mathrm{U}(1)\mathrm{U}(2)U^{\dagger}(3)U^{\dagger}(4)], \qquad (2.3)$$

as shown in figure 1. The normalization ensures that the ordered trace of the Wilson loop has a maximum value of 1. In the second term eq. (2.2), we sum over plaquettes. This path-ordered trace of the Wilson loop can be expressed in terms of unit quaternions $\boldsymbol{u}(i)$ with i = 1, 2, 3, 4. In this paper, we consider D = 1, 2 spatial dimensions. The D = 1 case



Figure 1. The single plaquette with links specified. The gauge-invariant Wilson loop expectation value is computed using a path-ordered trace of four links U in the counterclockwise direction.

is often referred to as a ladder/string of plaquettes. The first term in eq. (2.2) involving angular momenta is usually referred to as the electric term and the second term involving plaquettes is called the magnetic term. The continuum limit of this lattice Hamiltonian i.e., the limit where the correlation length ξ is large relative to the lattice spacing ($\xi \sim e^{1/g^2} \gg 1$) is obtained as we take the weak-coupling limit of $\lambda \to \infty$. In this limit, the gauge links $U \to \mathbb{I}, u_0 \to 1$, and $W[C] \to 1$.

Since this is a constrained system, the Hamiltonian H does not determine the Hilbert space by itself. The gauge-invariant or physical states $|\Psi\rangle$ obey the following constraint at each link

$$\mathcal{C}(a) |\Psi\rangle = 0$$
, with $\mathcal{C}(a) \equiv \epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} J_{\mu\nu}(a) J_{\rho\sigma}(a)$. (2.4)

The electric part of H and all $\mathcal{C}(a)$ are Casimir operators commuting with all components of the angular momentum $J_{\mu\nu}(a)$. The Wilson loop W[C] also commutes with the constraint in eq. (2.4): $[\mathcal{C}(a), W[C]] = 0$ (a = 1, 2, 3, 4). Thus, for a given state $|\Psi\rangle$ that satisfies the constraint in eq. (2.4), e.g. the state $|\Psi\rangle = W[C] |0\rangle$, we obtain a new state by acting on it with the angular momentum operator $J_{\mu\nu}(a) |\Psi\rangle$ that also satisfies the constraint eq. (2.4).

Additionally, the system obeys Gauss's law, which further constrains the Hilbert space to the gauge singlet sector [7]. To define it, note that the four-dimensional angular momentum algebra splits into two three-dimensional angular momentum algebras, $\vec{L}^{R,L}$, that commute with each other.² We have

$$L_1^{R,L}(a) = \frac{1}{2} (J_{01}(a) \pm J_{23}(a)), \quad L_2^{R,L}(a) = \frac{1}{2} (J_{02}(a) \pm J_{31}(a)), \quad L_3^{R,L}(a) = \frac{1}{2} (J_{03}(a) \pm J_{12}(a)).$$
(2.5)

Gauss's law at lattice site x reads

$$\mathbb{G}(x) |\Psi\rangle = 0, \text{ with } \mathbb{G}(x) \equiv \sum_{a \text{ starts at } x} \vec{L}^L(a) + \sum_{a \text{ ends at } x} \vec{L}^R(a).$$
(2.6)

3 Single plaquette

We start with the one plaquette system where an exact analytic solution can be obtained [37]. The plaquette consists of links a = 1, 2, 3, 4 joining lattice sites $x = x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4$, as shown

²This is referred to as body-fixed and space-fixed reference frames of the rigid rotator in ref. [7].

in figure 1. Gauss's law eq. (2.6) amounts to the constraints

$$(\vec{L}^{R}(1) + \vec{L}^{L}(2)) |\Psi\rangle = (\vec{L}^{R}(2) + \vec{L}^{L}(3)) |\Psi\rangle = (\vec{L}^{R}(3) + \vec{L}^{L}(4)) |\Psi\rangle = (\vec{L}^{R}(4) + \vec{L}^{L}(1)) |\Psi\rangle = 0.$$
(3.1)

To construct the Hilbert space, note that on a given link, \vec{L}^R and \vec{L}^L commute with each other, thus forming independent algebras due to $\mathfrak{so}(4) \equiv \mathfrak{su}(2) \oplus \mathfrak{su}(2)$. We can write their common eigenstates as $|jm_Lm_R\rangle \equiv |jm_L\rangle_L |jm_R\rangle_R \ (m_L, m_R = -j, \ldots, j)$, where we suppressed the link index. For the pure gauge theory we are considering here, Gauss's law restricts the Hilbert space to the vacuum charge sector, leading to the following basis of states

$$\bigotimes_{a=1}^{4} \left| j_a m_{aL} m_{aR} \right\rangle_a, \left| j_a m_{aL} m_{aR} \right\rangle_a = \left| j_a m_{aL} \right\rangle_{aL} \left| j_a m_{aR} \right\rangle_{aR}.$$

$$(3.2)$$

As an example, consider the case of spin-1/2 states $j_a = 1/2$ with $m_{aL,R} = \pm 1/2$, for a = 1, 2, 3, 4. To simplify the notation, we will omit the quantum numbers j_a and write $m_{aL,R} = \pm$. Using this notation, the basis states of the Hilbert space are $\bigotimes_{a=1}^{4} |m_{aL}\rangle_{aL} |m_{aR}\rangle_{aR}$. First, let us focus on the states $|m_{1R}\rangle_{1R} |m_{2L}\rangle_{2L}$. The total spin needs to be zero due to Gauss's law eq. (3.1). Therefore, we need to pick the singlet state, which is given by the linear combination

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(|+\rangle_{1R} \, |-\rangle_{2L} - |-\rangle_{1R} \, |+\rangle_{2L} \right) \,, \tag{3.3}$$

satisfies the first constraint of Gauss's law. We can choose the same singlet states for the other pairs of states to satisfy the remaining three constraints. Thus we arrive at the state

$$\frac{1}{4} (|+\rangle_{1R} |-\rangle_{2L} - |-\rangle_{1R} |+\rangle_{2L}) (|+\rangle_{2R} |-\rangle_{3L} - |-\rangle_{2R} |+\rangle_{3L})
(|+\rangle_{3R} |-\rangle_{4L} - |-\rangle_{3R} |+\rangle_{4L}) (|+\rangle_{4R} |-\rangle_{1L} - |-\rangle_{4R} |+\rangle_{1L}) ,$$
(3.4)

which satisfies Gauss's law eq. (3.1) by construction. This state can be verified to be $2W[C] |\Omega\rangle$, where $|\Omega\rangle$ is the ground state of the electric part of the Hamiltonian with zero angular momentum (j = 0, see eq. (3.7) below). The overall factor can be deduced from the normalization constraint $||2W[C] |\Omega\rangle ||^2 = 4 \langle \Omega | [W[C]]^2 |\Omega\rangle = 1$, using eq. (2.3). Similarly, it is verified that using the singlet state in the j = 1 subspace

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}(|-1\rangle_{1R}|1\rangle_{2L} - |0\rangle_{1R}|0\rangle_{2L} + |1\rangle_{1R}|-1\rangle_{2L}), \qquad (3.5)$$

can be written as $(4[W[C]]^2 - 1) |\Omega\rangle$, which is orthogonal to $|\Omega\rangle$. The overall constant is deduced again from the normalization $||(4[W[C]]^2 - 1) |\Omega\rangle||^2 = 1$. In the $j = \frac{3}{2}$ subspace, the singlet state is given by

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(\left|-\frac{3}{2}\right\rangle_{1R}\left|\frac{3}{2}\right\rangle_{2L} - \left|-\frac{1}{2}\right\rangle_{1R}\left|\frac{1}{2}\right\rangle_{2L} + \left|\frac{1}{2}\right\rangle_{1R}\left|-\frac{1}{2}\right\rangle_{2L} - \left|\frac{3}{2}\right\rangle_{1R}\left|-\frac{3}{2}\right\rangle_{2L}\right), \quad (3.6)$$

which matches $(8[W[C]]^3 - 4W[C]) |0\rangle$. It is orthogonal to $2W[C] |0\rangle$ and the overall constant is such that $||(8[W[C]]^3 - 4W[C]) |\Omega\rangle ||^2 = 1$. Thus the Hilbert space can be constructed in terms of singlet vectors in the various *j*-subspaces

$$\mathcal{H} = \{ |0\rangle_{j=0}, |0\rangle_{j=\frac{1}{2}}, |0\rangle_{j=1}, |0\rangle_{j=\frac{3}{2}}, \dots |0\rangle_{j=j_{\max}/2} \}$$

= $\{ |\Omega\rangle, 2W[C] |\Omega\rangle, (4[W[C]]^2 - 1) |\Omega\rangle, (8[W[C]]^3 - 4W[C]) |\Omega\rangle, \dots \}.$ (3.7)

In this basis, the electric part of the Hamiltonian is diagonal, and it is a convenient choice in the small λ limit in which the electric part dominates over the magnetic part. However, it does not capture the correct continuum limit that one obtains for large λ . We therefore focus on a different approach that does not rely on the electric basis eq. (3.7).

It is known that the single-plaquette system consists of a single variable, which can be defined to be the Wilson loop of the single-plaquette W[C]. For the generalization to systems with more than one plaquette, it is convenient to fix the gauge. We can use Gauss's law to fix three of the links to be the identity. This procedure will be discussed in more detail later and is known as "maximal tree" gauge fixing [30]. We introduce the SU(2) matrix

$$X = U(1)U(2)U^{\dagger}(3)U^{\dagger}(4) = x_0 \mathbb{I} + i\vec{x} \cdot \vec{\sigma} , \qquad (3.8)$$

where $x_0^2 + \vec{x}^2 = 1$. Then $W[C] = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} X = x_0$, and the Hamiltonian in eq. (2.2) reduces to

$$H = \frac{1}{2}(\vec{L}^2 + \vec{K}^2) + \lambda(1 - x_0), \qquad (3.9)$$

where \vec{L}, \vec{K} act on $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_0, \vec{x})$ with angular momentum and boost operators $L_i = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{ijk} J_{jk}$, $K_i = J_{0i}$. To fix the gauge, we only need 3 of the 4 equations in eq. (2.6). Imposing the fourth one amounts to further restricting the Hilbert space to states with zero angular momentum $\vec{L} = \vec{0}$, i.e. states with spherically symmetric wave functions $\Psi(x_0)$. Changing coordinates to $x_0 = \cos \chi$, the energy eigenfunctions obey the Schrödinger equation [37]

$$-\frac{1}{2\sin^2\chi}\frac{d}{d\chi}\left[\sin^2\chi\frac{d\Psi_n(\chi)}{d\chi}\right] + \lambda(1-\cos\chi)\Psi_n(\chi) = E_n\Psi_n(\chi).$$
(3.10)

Here, Ψ_n is periodic with $\Psi_n(\chi + 2\pi) = \Psi_n(\chi)$. Exact solutions are given in terms of *Mathieu* functions and the energy levels E_n are obtained by imposing the periodicity of the solutions. In the weak coupling (large λ) limit, obtained by letting $x_0 \to 1$, the Hamiltonian simplifies. Approximating $x_0 \approx 1 - \frac{1}{2}\vec{x}^2$, the Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H = \sqrt{\lambda} H^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), \quad H^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \vec{p}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \vec{x}^2, \quad [x_i, p_j] = i\delta_{ij}, \quad (3.11)$$

which describes a three-dimensional harmonic oscillator of frequency $\omega = \sqrt{\lambda}$. We have scaled \vec{x} so that $H^{(0)}$ is independent of λ . For large λ , since $x_0 \to 1$ and $\sin \chi \approx \chi$, we can expand eq. (3.10) in χ and obtain to leading order

$$-\frac{1}{2\chi^2}\frac{d}{d\chi}\left[\chi^2\frac{d\Psi_n^{(0)}(\chi)}{d\chi}\right] + \frac{1}{2}\chi^2\Psi_n^{(0)}(\chi) = E_n^{(0)}\Psi_n^{(0)}(\chi).$$
(3.12)

The solutions involve Hermite polynomials and can be written as

$$E_n^{(0)} = 2n + \frac{3}{2}, \quad \Psi_n^{(0)}(\chi) \propto \frac{1}{\chi} H_{2n+1}(\chi) e^{-\frac{1}{2}\chi^2}.$$
 (3.13)

Notice that this list does not include all energy levels of a three-dimensional harmonic oscillator, because only spherically symmetric states are allowed by Gauss's law (with angular

momentum quantum number l = 0). The wave functions of the ground and first-excited states are given by

$$\Psi_0^{(0)} \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2}\chi^2}, \quad \Psi_1^{(0)} \propto \left(\chi^2 - \frac{3}{2}\right) e^{-\frac{1}{2}\chi^2},$$
(3.14)

with energies $E_0 = \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), E_1 = \frac{7}{2}\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$, respectively. The energy gap is given by

$$\Delta E = E_1 - E_0 = 2\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0). \qquad (3.15)$$

This Hamiltonian can also be obtained without gauge fixing. It is instructive to discuss the details to generalize it to cases involving a large number of plaquettes where gauge fixing can be more cumbersome. Using $\sum J^2_{\mu\nu}(a) \approx \frac{1}{4}\vec{P}^2(a)$, where $\vec{P}(a)$ is the momentum conjugate to $\vec{u}(a)$ defined on link *a*, the electric part of the Hamiltonian eq. (2.2) for a single plaquette in the large λ limit is given by

$$H_E = \frac{1}{8} \sum_{a=1}^{4} [\vec{P}(a)]^2, \qquad (3.16)$$

where $[u_i(a), P_j(b)] = i\delta_{ab}\delta_{ij}$. The magnetic part is given by

The matrix V_B only has one non-vanishing eigenvalue, 1, which corresponds to the normalized eigenvector $e = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 1, & 1, & -1, & -1 \end{bmatrix}^T$. This leads to the normal mode

$$\vec{x} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\vec{u}(1) + \vec{u}(2) - \vec{u}(3) - \vec{u}(4) \right) \,, \tag{3.18}$$

which matches the result above obtained after gauge fixing. Gauge-invariant wave functions only depend on \vec{x} , and the Hamiltonian reduces to the expression in eq. (3.11).

For arbitrary coupling strength, away from the weak coupling approximation considered above, the energy gap can be obtained with a variational method. For the ground state, consider the coupled cluster ansatz

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x} | \psi_0(\alpha) \rangle \propto e^{\alpha W[C]},$$
(3.19)

where α is a variational parameter. The corresponding energy is given in terms of modified Bessel functions of first kind

$$\epsilon_0(\alpha) = \langle \psi_0(\alpha) | H | \psi_0(\alpha) \rangle = \lambda + \frac{(3\alpha - 4\lambda)I_2(2\alpha)}{4I_1(2\alpha)}, \qquad (3.20)$$

where we used the exact expression of eq. (3.9) for the Hamiltonian. For large λ , we have $\epsilon_0(\alpha) \approx \frac{3}{4}(\alpha + \frac{\lambda}{\alpha})$, which is minimized for $\alpha = \sqrt{\lambda}$. We obtain the estimate of the ground

state energy $\epsilon_0(\sqrt{\lambda}) \approx \frac{3}{2}\sqrt{\lambda}$, in agreement with our earlier result. Similarly, for the first excited state, consider the ansatz

$$|\psi_1(\alpha)\rangle \propto (W[C] - \beta) |\psi_0(\alpha)\rangle$$
 (3.21)

The parameter β is fixed by demanding orthogonality to the ground state. We obtain

$$\beta = \frac{I_2(2\alpha)}{I_1(2\alpha)}.\tag{3.22}$$

After computing the energy of this trial state, $\epsilon_1(\alpha) = \langle \psi_1(\alpha) | H | \psi_1(\alpha) \rangle$, we obtain the energy gap

$$\Delta E = \epsilon_1(\alpha) - \epsilon_0(\alpha) = \frac{-2(\alpha^3 + 2\alpha^2 - 6)\beta + 2(3\alpha + 2)\alpha^2\beta^3 - 6\alpha + 3(3\alpha + 4)\alpha\beta^2}{4\alpha(2\alpha - 3\beta - 2\alpha\beta^2)} + \lambda \frac{2(2\alpha^2 - 3)\beta - 4\alpha^2\beta^3 + 3\alpha - 9\alpha\beta^2}{\alpha(2\alpha - 3\beta - 2\alpha\beta^2)}$$
(3.23)

where α is chosen to minimize $\epsilon_0(\alpha)$, i.e. solving $d\epsilon_0/d\alpha = 0$.

For large λ , ϵ_0 is minimized for $\alpha = \sqrt{\lambda}$. We obtain $\beta = 1 - \frac{3}{4\sqrt{\lambda}} + \mathcal{O}(1/\lambda)$, and we recover the result of eq. (3.15) for the energy gap. For general coupling, we obtained the corresponding results numerically. In figures 2 and 3, we compare our results using the coupled cluster (CC) ansatz with exact results, which can be obtained analytically for a single plaquette, as well as results from exact diagonalization for the ground state energy and the energy gap, respectively. Following refs. [18, 20], we obtained results from exact diagonalization using different levels of truncation in the electric basis; see original papers for details. The results obtained using the coupled cluster ansatz are in good agreement with exact results for all values of λ . Agreement with exact diagonalization is also good, but, as expected a higher cutoff is needed at large λ : For example, $j_{\text{max}} = 1$ suffices at $\lambda = 1$, but we need $j_{\text{max}} = 7$ at $\lambda = 200$ to converge to the exact result, as shown in the right inset of figure 2.

4 Ladder of plaquettes

Next, we consider a ladder of N plaquettes where we impose open boundary conditions. The results can be easily extended to periodic boundary conditions. We will not discuss periodic boundary conditions in detail here, as they do not introduce any significant changes to the relevant physics.

We start with a system of two plaquettes with open boundary conditions as illustrated in figure 5. In this case, we can use Gauss's law to fix five of the seven gauge links. Thus, the system is described by two SU(2) matrices, which can be conveniently chosen as [26]

$$X(1) = \mathrm{U}(4)\mathrm{U}(3)\mathrm{U}(2)^{\dagger}\mathrm{U}(1)^{\dagger}, \quad X(2) = \mathrm{U}(1)\mathrm{U}(5)\mathrm{U}(7)\mathrm{U}(6)^{\dagger}\mathrm{U}(2)^{\dagger}\mathrm{U}(1)^{\dagger}, \quad (4.1)$$

along the closed paths $C_1: x_1 \to x_4 \to x_3 \to x_2 \to x_1$ and $C_2: x_1 \to x_2 \to x_5 \to x_6 \to x_3 \to x_2 \to x_1$, respectively. The corresponding Wilson loops are

$$W[C_i] = \frac{1}{2} \text{Tr} X(i) = x_0(i), \quad i = 1, 2.$$
 (4.2)



Figure 2. The ground state energy using the coupled cluster ansatz compared with the results using an exact diagonalization of the Hamiltonian in the electric basis with different truncations j_{max} . Note that the eigenvalues of the electric part of the Hamiltonian is j(j + 1) for each link where $j = 0, 1/2, 1, \dots, j_{\text{max}}$. In practice, we fix each link to some maximum allowed value of j_{max} .



Figure 3. Energy gap for one plaquette using the coupled cluster ansatz compared to exact diagonalization results. We show the results separately for small (left panels) and large λ (right panels).



Figure 4. j_{max} required for precision 10% (orange ×s) and 0.1% (blue circles) in the calculation of the energy gap for one plaquette at various values of the coupling constant λ using exact diagonalization.



Figure 5. The two plaquette (N = 2) string model with open boundary conditions. An arbitrary N plaquette string has 3N + 1 links. We can set 2N + 1 links to arbitrary SU(2) group element (usually the identity matrix) and hence describe the dynamics using only N physical links as in (4.13).

Here, we used five of the six equations in Gauss's law (one for each lattice site). The remaining equation imposes the constraint of zero total angular momentum on the states. The Hamiltonian becomes

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \left([\vec{L}(1)]^2 + [\vec{K}(1)]^2 + 2[\vec{L}(2)]^2 + [\vec{K}(2)]^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\vec{K}(2) + 3\vec{L}(2)) \cdot (\vec{K}(1) - \vec{L}(1)) \right) + \lambda(2 - x_0(1) - x_0(2)),$$
(4.3)

where $L_i(a) = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{ijk} J_{jk}(a)$, $K_i(a) = J_{0i}(a)$ analogous to eq. (3.9) above. In the large λ limit, the Hamiltonian reduces to

$$H = \sqrt{\lambda}H^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), \quad H^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2}\left([\vec{p}(1)]^2 + [\vec{p}(2)]^2 + \frac{1}{2}\vec{p}(1)\cdot\vec{p}(2) \right) + \frac{1}{2}\left([\vec{x}(1)]^2 + [\vec{x}(2)]^2 \right), \tag{4.4}$$

with $[x_i(a), p_j(b)] = \delta_{ab}\delta_{ij}$. This Hamiltonian describes two coupled three-dimensional harmonic oscillators. It can be diagonalized by introducing normal modes $\vec{x}_{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} [\vec{x}(1) \pm \vec{x}(2)]$ with normal frequencies $\omega_- = \frac{\sqrt{3\lambda}}{2}$ and $\omega_+ = \frac{\sqrt{5\lambda}}{2}$.

Interestingly, the expression eq. (4.4) can be derived in a straightforward manner without gauge fixing, by extending the method discussed in the case of a single plaquette. Note that in the large- λ limit, the electric part of the Hamiltonian is diagonal (given by eq. (3.16), but with a = 1, ..., 7), and the magnetic part is given by

$$H_{B} = \lambda (1 - W[C]) \approx \lambda \vec{\boldsymbol{u}}^{T} \cdot V_{B} \vec{\boldsymbol{u}}, \quad V_{B} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & -1 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 & -1 & -1 & -1 & 1 & -1 \\ -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ -1 & -1 & 1 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 1 \\ 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 & 1 & -1 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \vec{\boldsymbol{u}} = \begin{bmatrix} \vec{u}(1) \\ \vec{u}(2) \\ \vec{u}(3) \\ \vec{u}(4) \\ \vec{u}(5) \\ \vec{u}(6) \\ \vec{u}(7) \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(4.5)$$

The non-zero eigenvalues of V_B are $\lambda_- = \frac{5}{4}$, $\lambda_+ = \frac{3}{4}$ with corresponding normal mode

coordinates

$$\vec{v}_{-} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{10}} \left[\vec{u}(1) + 2\vec{u}(2) - \vec{u}(3) - \vec{u}(4) - \vec{u}(5) + \vec{u}(6) - \vec{u}(7) \right],$$

$$\vec{v}_{+} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{6}} \left[\vec{u}(1) - \vec{u}(3) - \vec{u}(4) + \vec{u}(5) - \vec{u}(6) + \vec{u}(7) \right].$$
 (4.6)

Gauge-invariant wave functions depend only on \vec{x}_{\pm} , and we recover the expression eq. (4.4) for the Hamiltonian.

The ground and first excited states, respectively, are given by

$$\Psi_0^{(0)} \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2}\omega_+ \vec{v}_+^2 + \omega_- \vec{v}_-^2}, \qquad \Psi_1^{(0)} \propto (\omega_- \vec{v}_-^2 - 3) \Psi_0^{(0)}, \qquad (4.7)$$

with energies

$$E_{0} = \frac{3}{2}(\omega_{+} + \omega_{-}) = 2.976\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}), \quad E_{1} = \frac{3}{2}\omega_{+} + \frac{7}{2}\omega_{-} \approx 4.708\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}). \quad (4.8)$$

Therefore, the gap is

$$\Delta E = 2\omega_{-} = \sqrt{3\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}). \qquad (4.9)$$

Away from the weak coupling limit, the energy gap can be obtained with a variational method. For the ground state, consider the coupled cluster ansatz

$$\langle \boldsymbol{x}(1), \boldsymbol{x}(2) | \psi_0(\alpha) \rangle \propto e^{\alpha(W[C_1] + W[C_2])} \,. \tag{4.10}$$

The corresponding energy that depends on the variational parameter α is given by

$$\epsilon_0(\alpha) = \langle \psi_0(\alpha) | H | \psi_0(\alpha) \rangle = \frac{3\alpha I_2(2\alpha)}{2I_1(2\alpha)} + 2\lambda \left(1 - \frac{I_2(2\alpha)}{I_1(2\alpha)}\right). \tag{4.11}$$

Similarly, for the excited state, consider the ansatz

$$|\psi_1(\alpha)\rangle \propto (W[C_{\partial}] - \beta) |\psi_0(\alpha)\rangle$$
, (4.12)

where C_{∂} traces the perimeter of the lattice. The Wilson loop may be written as

$$W[C_{\partial}] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr}[X(1)X^{\dagger}(2)] = \boldsymbol{x}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(2).$$
(4.13)

The parameter β is fixed by demanding orthogonality to the ground state eq. (4.10). We obtain

$$\beta = \frac{\langle \Omega | W[C_{\partial}] e^{2\alpha (W[C_1] + W[C_2])} | \Omega \rangle}{\langle \Omega | e^{2\alpha (W[C_1] + W[C_2])} | \Omega \rangle} = \left(\frac{I_2(2\alpha)}{I_1(2\alpha)} \right)^2 .$$
(4.14)

The energy of the excited state $\epsilon_1(\alpha) = \langle \psi_1(\alpha) | H | \psi_1(\alpha) \rangle$ can also be obtained exactly in terms of modified Bessel functions.

At large λ , the coupled cluster ansatze in eq. (4.10) and eq. (4.12) read, respectively,

$$\langle \vec{x}(1), \vec{x}(2) | \psi_0^{(0)}(\alpha) \rangle \propto e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2} \left([\vec{x}(1)]^2 + [\vec{x}(2)]^2 \right)}, \ | \psi_1^{(0)}(\alpha) \rangle \propto \left(\frac{1}{2} (\vec{x}_1 - \vec{x}_2)^2 - \frac{3}{2\alpha} \right) | \psi_0(\alpha) \rangle , \ (4.15)$$



Figure 6. Ground state energy (left panel) and energy gap (right panel) for two plaquettes using the coupled cluster ansatz in the large λ limit compared with exact diagonalization with specified truncation and harmonic oscillator (H.O.) approximation.



Figure 7. j_{max} required for precision 10% (orange stars) and 0.1% (blue \times s) in the calculation of the energy gap for two plaquettes at various values of the coupling constant λ using exact diagonalization.

where we used $\beta \approx 1 - \frac{3}{2\alpha}$. Their energies are found to be

$$\epsilon_0^{(0)}(\alpha) = \frac{3}{2} \left(\alpha + \frac{1}{\alpha} \right) , \quad \epsilon_1^{(0)}(\alpha) = \frac{45\alpha^4 + 53\alpha^2 + 4\alpha + 50}{20\alpha^3 - 8\alpha^2 + 20\alpha}$$
(4.16)

The ground-state energy is minimized for $\alpha = 1$. We obtain $E_0 = \epsilon_0^{(0)}\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0) = 3\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$. The excited state energy becomes $E_1 = \epsilon_1^{(0)}(1)\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0) = 4.75\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$, and the gap is $\Delta E = 1.75\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$, very close to the exact value of eq. (4.9).

The method discussed above generalizes to N plaquettes in a single row with open boundary conditions. The system contains 2N + 2 sites joined by 3N + 1 gauge links. We can use Gauss's law on 2N + 1 sites to fix an equal number of links, leaving N independent SU(2) matrices X(a) (a = 1, 2, ..., N) that describe the system. These matrices can be chosen conveniently so that the Wilson loops, which enter the magnetic part of the Hamiltonian, have a simple structure

$$W[C_a] = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Tr} X(a) = x_0(a).$$
 (4.17)

The remaining Gauss's law equation is used to impose zero total angular momentum on the physical states. In the large- λ limit, the Hamiltonian reduces to

$$H = \sqrt{\lambda} H^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), \quad H^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \vec{\boldsymbol{P}}^T \cdot H_E \vec{\boldsymbol{P}} + \frac{1}{2} \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}^T \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}$$
(4.18)

where

$$H_{E} = \frac{1}{4} \begin{bmatrix} 4 \ 2 \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \\ 2 \ 4 \ 2 \ 0 \ \cdots \ \vdots \\ 0 \ 2 \ 4 \ \ddots \ \ddots \ \vdots \\ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ 2 \ 0 \\ \vdots \ \vdots \ \cdots \ 2 \ 0 \ 0 \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ 2 \ 4 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \vec{P} = \begin{bmatrix} \vec{p}(1) \\ \vec{p}(2) \\ \vec{p}(3) \\ \vec{p}(4) \\ \vdots \\ \vec{p}(N) \end{bmatrix}, \quad \vec{X} = \begin{bmatrix} \vec{x}(1) \\ \vec{x}(2) \\ \vec{x}(3) \\ \vec{x}(4) \\ \vdots \\ \vec{x}(N) \end{bmatrix}, \quad (4.19)$$

and $[x_i(a), p_j(b)] = i\delta_{ab}\delta_{ij}$. The matrix H_E is a tridiagonal Toeplitz matrix, and its eigenvalues have a simple closed form, $\lambda_k = 1 - \frac{1}{2}\cos\frac{k\pi}{N+1}$, k = 1, 2, ..., N. We deduce the normal frequencies of the system

$$\omega_k = \sqrt{\lambda_k \lambda} = \sqrt{\lambda} \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{2} \cos \frac{k\pi}{N+1}} \,. \tag{4.20}$$

Thus, for a system with N plaquettes and open boundary conditions, the ground state energy in the large λ limit is

$$E_0(N) = \frac{3}{2} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \omega_k + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0).$$
(4.21)

Since the lowest frequency is ω_1 , the energy of the first excited state is $E_1(N) \approx 2\omega_1 + E_0(N)$,³ and the gap is

$$\Delta E(N) = E_1(N) - E_0(N) = 2\sqrt{\lambda}\sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{2}\cos\frac{\pi}{N+1}} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0).$$
(4.22)

Note that in the limit $N \to \infty$, the gap approaches a finite value, $\Delta E \to \sqrt{2\lambda}$. For this system, the continuum limit does not exist. This is expected because there is no magnetic field in one spatial dimension.

The system consists of coupled harmonic oscillators in the large λ limit. It is convenient to introduce normal modes $\vec{v}_k = \boldsymbol{e}_k^T \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}$, where \boldsymbol{e}_k is the unit eigenvector of H_E that corresponds to the eigenvalue λ_k . The ground and first excited states are

$$\Psi_0^{(0)} \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2}\sum_k \omega_k \vec{v}_k^2}, \quad \Psi_1^{(0)} \propto (\omega_1 \vec{v}_1^2 - 3) \Psi_0.$$
(4.23)

To obtain the energy gap with a variational method, consider the coupled cluster ansatz

$$\psi_0^{(0)}(\alpha) \propto e^{-\frac{\alpha}{2}\sum_k \vec{v}_k^2}, \quad \psi_1^{(0)}(\alpha) \propto \left(\vec{v}_1^2 - \beta\right) \psi_0(\alpha),$$
(4.24)

³Note that the first excited state of the three-dimensional harmonic oscillator with frequency ω_1 is not allowed due to Gauss's law, hence the energy difference of $2\omega_1$ with the ground state.



Figure 8. Energy gap for the N plaquette chain in units of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ for the large λ coupled cluster (CC) approximation in eq. (4.28) (blue solid) and exact value in eq. (4.22) (black dotted).

where β is determined by demanding orthogonality of the two wavefunctions

$$\beta = \frac{3}{2\alpha} \,. \tag{4.25}$$

We obtain the following estimate of the ground state energy

$$\epsilon_0^{(0)}(\alpha) = \frac{3N\alpha}{4} + \frac{3}{4\alpha} \sum_k \lambda_k^2 = \frac{3N}{4} \left(\alpha + \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \,, \tag{4.26}$$

which is minimized for $\alpha = 1$, yielding the estimate $E_0 = \sqrt{\lambda} \epsilon_0^{(0)}(1) = \frac{3N}{2} \sqrt{\lambda}$. It is in good agreement (within 4%) with the exact value in eq. (4.21) which, for large N, is

$$E_0(N) \approx \frac{3N}{2} \sqrt{\lambda} \int_0^1 dx \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{2} \cos \pi x} \approx 0.98 \frac{3N}{2} \sqrt{\lambda}.$$
(4.27)

After calculating the energy of the state $|\psi_1(\alpha)\rangle$ (eq. (4.24)), and setting $\alpha = 1$, we deduce the following estimate of the energy gap

$$\Delta E_{\text{est.}}(N) \approx \left(2 - \frac{1}{2}\cos\frac{\pi}{N+1}\right)\sqrt{\lambda} \tag{4.28}$$

to be compared with eq. (4.22). In figure 8, we show that there is good agreement between the asymptotic expression in eq. (4.22) and the estimate in eq. (4.28) from the coupled cluster ansatz in eq. (4.24). In the large N limit, we obtain the estimate $\Delta E_{\text{est.}}(N) \approx 1.5\sqrt{\lambda}$ which agrees with the actual value $\Delta E = \sqrt{2\lambda} \approx 1.414\sqrt{\lambda}$ to within 6%.

5 Two spatial dimensions

We now discuss the case of two spatial dimensions. A square lattice of $(N + 1) \times (N + 1)$ sites contains N^2 plaquettes and a total of 2N(N + 1) gauge links. After using Gauss's law at all but one site, we fix (N + 2)N links, leaving N^2 physical links matching the number of plaquettes. Gauss's law at the remaining site further restricts physical states to the



Figure 9. Spatial square lattice consisting of 2×2 plaquettes that are gauge-fixed by the maximal tree procedure. The blue dashed links are the physical links and solid lines are the tree links fixed to the identity.

states of zero total angular momentum. For large λ , the mass gap for a square lattice with $N \times N$ plaquettes is given by [8]

$$\Delta E_{N \times N} = 2\sqrt{2\lambda} \sin \frac{\pi}{2(N+1)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0) \,. \tag{5.1}$$

The gap vanishes in the large volume limit $(N \to \infty)$ in the strict $\lambda \to \infty$ limit. However, it should be noted that the gap is finite as $N \to \infty$ if we include next-to-leading-order corrections in $1/\lambda$, as discussed in refs. [6, 8].

The simplest case of the square lattice is shown in figure 9. We fix the gauge links in the maximal tree to identity matrix [30] and set the origin of the tree at the base of links 1 and 4, shown by the red circle in figure 9. The choice of constructing a maximal tree is not unique and can be selected to result in the simplest description of the system. We choose a maximal tree such that the remaining physical links are:

$$\begin{aligned} X(1) &= U(4)U(3)U^{\dagger}(2)U^{\dagger}(1), & X(2) &= U(4)U(10)U(9)U^{\dagger}(12)U^{\dagger}(2)U^{\dagger}(1) \\ X(3) &= U(1)U(2)U(11)U^{\dagger}(6)U^{\dagger}(5)U^{\dagger}(1) & X(4) &= U(1)U(2)U(12)U(8)U^{\dagger}(7)U^{\dagger}(6)U^{\dagger}(5)U^{\dagger}(1) \\ & (5.2) \end{aligned}$$

After changing variables $X(2) \to X(2)X(1)^{\dagger}$ and $X(4) \to X(4)X^{\dagger}(3)$, the Hamiltonian reads

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \left(2 \sum_{a=1}^{4} (\vec{L}^{2}(a) + \vec{K}^{2}(a)) + (\vec{L}(1) + \vec{K}(1)) \cdot (\vec{L}(2) - \vec{K}(2)) + (\vec{L}(3) + \vec{K}(3)) \cdot (\vec{L}(1) - \vec{K}(1)) \right. \\ \left. + (\vec{L}(4) + \vec{K}(4)) \cdot (\vec{L}(2) - \vec{K}(2)) + (\vec{L}(3) + \vec{K}(3)) \cdot (\vec{L}(4) - \vec{K}(4)) \right) + \lambda \left(4 - \sum_{a=1}^{4} x_{0}(a) \right)$$
(5.3)

In the large λ limit, we obtain

$$\vec{x}(1) = \frac{1}{2} [\vec{u}(1) + \vec{u}(2) - \vec{u}(3) - \vec{u}(4)]$$

$$\vec{x}(2) = \frac{1}{2} [\vec{u}(9) - \vec{u}(2) + \vec{u}(10) - \vec{u}(12)]$$

$$\vec{x}(3) = \frac{1}{2} [\vec{u}(2) - \vec{u}(5) - \vec{u}(6) + \vec{u}(11)]$$

$$\vec{x}(4) = \frac{1}{2} [\vec{u}(12) - \vec{u}(7) + \vec{u}(8) - \vec{u}(11)].$$

(5.5)

The Hamiltonian in eq. (5.3) reduces to

$$H = \sqrt{\lambda} H^{(0)} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), \quad H^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \vec{\boldsymbol{P}}^T \cdot H_E \vec{\boldsymbol{P}} + \frac{1}{2} \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}^T \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}, \quad (5.6)$$

where

$$H_E = \frac{1}{4} \begin{pmatrix} 4 & -1 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 4 & 0 & -1 \\ -1 & 0 & 4 & -1 \\ 0 & -1 & -1 & 4 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{P} = \begin{pmatrix} \vec{p}(1) \\ \vec{p}(2) \\ \vec{p}(3) \\ \vec{p}(4) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \vec{X} = \begin{pmatrix} \vec{x}(1) \\ \vec{x}(2) \\ \vec{x}(3) \\ \vec{x}(4) \end{pmatrix}$$
(5.7)

and $[x_i(a), p_j(b)] = i\delta_{ab}\delta_{ij}$. The eigenvalues of H_E are $\{\frac{1}{2}, 1, 1, \frac{3}{2}\}$, therefore, the frequencies and corresponding normalized eigenvectors are

$$\omega_{1} = \sqrt{\frac{\lambda}{2}}, \quad \boldsymbol{e}_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1, 1, -1, -1 \right)^{T}$$

$$\omega_{2} = \sqrt{\lambda}, \quad \boldsymbol{e}_{2} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(1, 0, 0, 1 \right)^{T}$$

$$\omega_{3} = \sqrt{\lambda}, \quad \boldsymbol{e}_{3} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(0, 1, 1, 0 \right)^{T}$$

$$\omega_{4} = \sqrt{\frac{3\lambda}{2}}, \quad \boldsymbol{e}_{4} = \frac{1}{2} \left(1, -1, 1, -1 \right)^{T}$$
(5.8)

The ground state has energy $E_0 = \frac{3}{2} \sum_i \omega_i + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0) \approx 5.9\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$. The first excited state is obtained by exciting the normal mode with the lowest frequency ω_1 , thus the gap is $E_1 - E_0 = 2\omega_1 = \sqrt{2\lambda}$, in agreement with the general expression eq. (5.1) for N = 2 [8]. Expressions for the ground and first excited states are given in eq. (4.23) with normal mode coordinates $\vec{v}_k = \boldsymbol{e}_k \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{X}}$, where \boldsymbol{X} is defined in eq. (5.7) and the unit vectors \boldsymbol{e}_k (k = 1, 2, 3, 4) are defined in eq. (5.8).

To obtain the energy gap with a variational method, consider the coupled cluster ansatz in eq. (4.24), which is valid in the large λ limit. For the ground state energy, we obtain

$$\epsilon_0^{(0)}(\alpha) = 3\left(\alpha + \frac{1}{\alpha}\right), \qquad (5.9)$$

which is minimized for $\alpha = 1$. We deduce the estimate of the ground state energy $E_0 = 6\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$ which is close to the exact value. Similarly, we obtain the first excited energy $E_0 = 7.5\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$. We deduce the estimate of the gap, $\Delta E = 1.5\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$, which is a good approximation to the exact value.

Away from the large- λ limit, we define the following extension of the coupled cluster ansatz

$$\psi_0(\alpha) \propto e^{\alpha \sum_a x_0(a)}, \quad \psi_1(\alpha) \propto \left(\sum_{ab} A_{ab} \boldsymbol{x}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(b) - \beta\right) \psi_0(\alpha), \quad (5.10)$$

where β is determined by demanding orthogonality of the two states and the coefficients A_{ab} are chosen so that this ansatz matches eq. (4.24) in the large- λ limit. Note that in that limit, $\boldsymbol{x}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(b) \approx -\frac{1}{2}(\vec{x}(a) - \vec{x}(b))^2$. Using eq. (5.8), we have

$$\vec{v}_1^2 = (\boldsymbol{e}_1 \cdot \vec{\boldsymbol{X}})^2 = \frac{1}{2} (\vec{x}(1) + \vec{x}(2) - \vec{x}(3) - \vec{x}(4))^2.$$
(5.11)

Therefore, \vec{v}_1^2 is recovered from

$$\boldsymbol{x}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(2) - \boldsymbol{x}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(3) - \boldsymbol{x}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(4) - \boldsymbol{x}(2) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(3) - \boldsymbol{x}(2) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(4) + \boldsymbol{x}(3) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(4)$$
(5.12)

in the large- λ limit, which fixes $A_{12} = -A_{13} = -A_{14} = -A_{23} = -A_{24} = A_{34} = \frac{1}{2}$. The ansatz eq. (5.10) can also be expressed in terms of Wilson loops. The calculation of energy levels using the Hamiltonian in eq. (5.3) proceeds as in the previous cases.

Larger lattice sizes can be tackled by extending the above approach. For $N \times N$ plaquettes, using the ansatz eq. (4.24), we obtain the following lowest energy levels in the large- λ limit

$$\epsilon_0^{(0)}(\alpha) = \frac{3N^2}{4} \left(\alpha + \frac{1}{\alpha}\right),$$

$$\epsilon_1^{(0)}(\alpha) = \left(\alpha\lambda_1 + \frac{1}{\alpha}\right) \frac{5\alpha^2 + 4\alpha - 1}{5\alpha^2 - 2\alpha + 5} + \epsilon_0^{(0)}(\alpha),$$
(5.13)

where λ_1 is the lowest eigenvalue

$$\lambda_1 = 2\sin^2 \frac{\pi}{2(N+1)} \,. \tag{5.14}$$

The ground state energy is minimized for $\alpha = 1$. We obtain the estimate $E_0 = \frac{3N}{2}\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$. For the gap, setting $\alpha = 1$, we obtain the estimate

$$\Delta E = \left(1 + 2\sin^2\frac{\pi}{2(N+1)}\right)\sqrt{\lambda} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$$
(5.15)

A comparison of this estimate with the asymptotic expression in eq. (5.1) is shown in figure 10. In the large volume limit, the coupled cluster estimate in eq. (5.15) approaches $\sqrt{\lambda}$ whereas the exact value vanishes. The coupled cluster ansatz of eq. (4.24) fails. To improve the performance in the important large volume (continuum) limit, we introduce a modified ansatz by adding a two-body term to the ansatz of eq. (5.10) that reproduces the exact expression eq. (4.23) in the large λ limit

$$\psi_0(\alpha) \propto e^{\alpha \left(\sum_a x_0(a) + \sum_{ab} B_{ab} \boldsymbol{x}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(b)\right)}, \quad \psi_1(\alpha) \propto \left(\sum_{ab} A_{ab} \boldsymbol{x}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{x}(b) - \beta\right) \psi_0(\alpha).$$
 (5.16)

Here, α is a variational parameter and β is determined by demanding orthogonality of the two states. The coefficients A_{ab} , B_{ab} are chosen so that this ansatz matches the form of the expression in eq. (4.23) in the large- λ limit. This ansatz reproduces the asymptotic expression in eq. (5.1) for the gap and can more accurately capture the physics in the continuum limit.



Figure 10. Energy gap for a square lattice with $N \times N$ plaquettes in units of $\sqrt{\lambda}$ in the large λ limit using the coupled cluster (CC) approximation in eq. (5.15) and the asymptotic expression in eq. (5.1). In the large-N limit, the asymptotic value is 0 while the CC gives 1 indicating a breakdown of the ansatz. One way to improve this is to add higher-order terms in the ansatz similar to eq. (5.16).

6 Quantum computation with qumodes

We consider two approaches to quantum computation (QC) with quinodes for SU(2) lattice gauge theory. For the first one, we use quadruplets of quinodes to represent each physical link, and the second one relies on quinode triplets. In both approaches, the number of required quinodes grows *linearly* with the spatial volume of the lattice.

6.1 QC with qumode quadruplets

An SU(2) matrix can be written as $U = u_0 \mathbb{I} + \vec{u} \cdot \vec{\sigma}$, where $u_0^2 + \vec{u}^2 = 1$. To represent this with quandes, we introduce a quadruplet of qumodes with quadratures $\boldsymbol{q} = (q_0, q_1, q_2, q_3)$ and $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_0, p_1, p_2, p_3)$, obeying the commutation rules $[q_\mu, p_\nu] = i\delta_{\mu\nu}$ ($\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3$). They represent a larger phase space, as these quadratures take values on the entire real axis. However, gauge symmetry is not broken, because angular momenta

$$j_{\mu\nu} = q_{\mu}p_{\nu} - q_{\nu}p_{\mu} \tag{6.1}$$

leave the unit spherical shell $q^2 = 1$ invariant $([j_{\mu\nu}, q^2] = 0)$. We recover the original gauge theory by only considering wave functions whose support is on the unit spherical shell $q^2 = 1$. We achieve this by introducing a factor involving the Dirac δ -function, $\delta(q^2 - 1)$. Thus, for a state $|\psi^{\text{QC}}\rangle$ in the enlarged phase space, we obtain the gauge theory state

$$|\Psi^{\text{GT}}\rangle \propto \int d^4q \delta(\boldsymbol{q}^2 - 1)\psi^{\text{QC}}(\boldsymbol{q}) |\boldsymbol{q}\rangle$$
 (6.2)

This can be engineered as follows. We attach an ancilla qumode of quadratures $(q^{(a)}, p^{(a)})$, initially in the quadrature eigenstate $|p^{(a)} = s\rangle_a$, where s is an arbitrary constant that can be adjusted at will, and entangle it with the qumodes of the system by applying the product of unitaries,

$$\mathcal{D}(s) = \prod_{\mu=0}^{3} \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(s), \quad \mathcal{D}_{\mu}(s) = e^{-isq_{\mu}^{2}q^{(a)}}, \quad (6.3)$$



Figure 11. Quantum circuit that generates the controlled non-Gaussian gate $\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(s)$, eq. (6.4).



Figure 12. Quantum circuit that generates the four-quinode state $|\Psi^{\text{GT}}\rangle$, eq. (6.5), from the input state $|\psi^{\text{QC}}\rangle$. Each controlled two-quinode gate is implemented with the circuit in figure 11 (eq. (6.4)).

where \mathcal{D}_{μ} acts as a conditional displacement on the ancilla controlled by the qumode of the system labeled μ . This non-linear (quadratic) two-qumode control can be implemented with non-Gaussian cubic phase gates using

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu}(s) = U_{\rm BS} \cdot e^{-i\frac{s}{6}q_{\mu}^{3}} \cdot e^{i\frac{s}{6}[q^{(a)}]^{3}} \cdot U_{\rm BS}^{\dagger} \cdot e^{i\frac{s}{3}[q^{(a)}]^{3}}, \qquad (6.4)$$

where $U_{\rm BS}$ is the beam-splitter gate defined as $e^{-\frac{i}{4}(q_1p_2-p_1q_2)}$ for qumodes with quadratures (q_i, p_i) (i = 1, 2). The corresponding quantum circuit is shown in figure 11. Then we perform a homodyne measurement on the ancilla qumode projecting it onto the zero phase quadrature state $(|p^{(a)} = 0\rangle_a)$. We obtain the desired state

$$|\Psi^{\text{GT}}\rangle \propto_{a} \langle p^{(a)} = 0 | \mathcal{D}(s) | \psi^{\text{QC}} \rangle | p^{(a)} = s \rangle_{a} \propto \int d^{4}q \delta(\boldsymbol{q}^{2} - 1) \psi^{\text{QC}}(\boldsymbol{q}) | \boldsymbol{q} \rangle .$$
 (6.5)

The quantum circuit implementing this state is depicted in figure 12.

6.1.1 Single plaquette

Recall that for a single plaquette, after fixing the gauge, the Hamiltonian is given by eq. (3.9). For QC, we will use a single qumode quadruplet with quadratures $\boldsymbol{q} = (q_0, \vec{q})$ and $\boldsymbol{p} = (p_0, \vec{p})$, and work with the Hamiltonian

$$H^{\rm QC} = \frac{1}{2}(\vec{L}^2 + \vec{K}^2) + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left[(q_0 - 1)^2 + q_1^2 + q_2^2 + q_3^2 \right], \qquad (6.6)$$

where $\vec{L} = \vec{q} \times \vec{p}$ and $\vec{K} = \vec{q}p_0 - q_0\vec{p}$. After imposing the constraint $q^2 = 1$ (eq. (6.5)), the magnetic part of the Hamiltonian reduces to $\lambda(1-q_0)$, matching eq. (3.9). This linear expression would have been a simpler choice for the magnetic part of the Hamiltonian (6.6), but it is unbounded from below and can lead to numerical instabilities.

To compute the ground state energy, we introduce the coupled cluster ansatz

$$|\psi_0^{\text{QC}}(\alpha)\rangle = D_0(-\alpha) |\mathbf{0}\rangle$$
, $D_0(-\alpha) = e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha p_0}$

where $|\mathbf{0}\rangle$ consists of 4 zero-photon eigenstates $(\langle \boldsymbol{q} | \mathbf{0} \rangle \propto e^{-\boldsymbol{q}^2/2})$, and D_0 is a displacement oparator on the (q_0, p_0) quinode.



Figure 13. Quantum circuit that generates the four-quinode trial state $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}\rangle$, eq. (6.8).

In the q-quadrature representation, it reads

$$\langle \boldsymbol{q} | \psi_0^{\text{QC}}(\alpha) \rangle \propto e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left[(q_0 - \alpha)^2 + q_1^2 + q_2^2 + q_3^2 \right]} \propto e^{\alpha q_0} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \boldsymbol{q}^2} .$$
 (6.7)

The corresponding gauge theory state (eq. (6.2)) is

$$|\Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle \propto \int d^4q \delta(\boldsymbol{q}^2 - 1) e^{\alpha q_0} |\boldsymbol{q}\rangle \tag{6.8}$$

to be compared with the ansatz in eq. (3.19) used in the classical calculation. Its energy is found to be

$$\epsilon_0^{\rm QC}(\alpha) = \langle \Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha) | H^{\rm QC} | \Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha) \rangle = \epsilon_0(\alpha)$$
(6.9)

reproducing the energy in eq. (3.20) of the trial state in the classical calculation by design. The quantum circuit that generates this trial state is shown in figure 13.

Similarly, for the first excited state, we adopt the ansatz

$$|\Psi_1^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle \propto (q_0 - \beta(\alpha)) |\Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle , \qquad \beta = \frac{I_2(2\alpha)}{I_1(2\alpha)}, \qquad (6.10)$$

where β is chosen by demanding orthogonality, $\langle \Psi_0^{\text{GT}} | \Psi_1^{\text{GT}} \rangle = 0$, to be compared with the classical state in eq. (3.21). We recover the expression for the energy in eq. (3.23),

$$\epsilon_1^{\rm QC}(\alpha) = \langle \Psi_1^{\rm GT}(\alpha) | H^{\rm QC} | \Psi_1^{\rm GT}(\alpha) \rangle = \epsilon_1(\alpha) \,. \tag{6.11}$$

To engineer the trial state (6.10), we attach an additional ancilla qumode of quadratures $(\boldsymbol{q}^{(b)}, \boldsymbol{p}^{(b)})$ initialized in the ground state, $|0\rangle_b$, to the circuit in figure 13. We entangle the additional ancilla qumode with the qumode in the system labeled 0 by applying controlled-X (CX) gate, $e^{-i\gamma q_0 p^{(b)}}$, with γ an arbitrary parameter to be chosen at will. We further displace the ancilla qumode by acting with the displacement operator $e^{i\beta\gamma p^{(b)}}$. Finally, we measure the ancilla qumode projecting it onto its single photon state, $|n = 1\rangle_b$. We arrive at the state

$${}_{b}\langle n^{(b)} = 1 | \int d^{4}q \delta(\boldsymbol{q}^{2} - 1) e^{-i\gamma(q_{0} - \beta)p^{(b)}} e^{\alpha q_{0}} | \boldsymbol{q} \rangle | 0 \rangle_{b} \propto (q_{0} - \beta) e^{-\gamma^{2}(q_{0} - \beta)^{2}/2} | \Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha) \rangle$$
(6.12)

which approximates the desired state (6.10) for small γ . The quantum circuit is shown in figure 14.

Next, we discuss the time evolution of the system. It can be implemented as a series of small time intervals, Δt , which compels us to consider the time evolution operator $e^{-i\Delta t H^{\rm QC}}$, where $H^{\rm QC}$ is given by eq. (6.6),

$$e^{-i\Delta t H^{\rm QC}} \approx e^{-i\frac{\lambda}{2}\Delta t(q_0-1)^2} \prod_{i=1}^3 e^{-i\frac{\Delta t}{2}L_i^2} e^{-i\frac{\Delta t}{2}K_i^2} e^{i\frac{\lambda}{2}\Delta tq_i^2}.$$
 (6.13)



Figure 14. Quantum circuit that generates the trial state in eq. (6.10).



Figure 15. Quantum circuit for the time evolution operator in eq. (6.13) of the Hamiltonian in eq. (6.6) for a small time step Δt .

The first factor in eq. (6.13) consists of a Gaussian quadratic gate, a displacement operator that shifts p_0 by $\frac{\lambda \Delta t}{\sqrt{2}}$, and an irrelevant phase,

$$P\left(\sqrt{2}s\right) = e^{i\frac{s}{\sqrt{2}}q_0^2}, \quad Z_0(s) = e^{i\sqrt{2}sq_0}, \quad s = \frac{\lambda\Delta t}{\sqrt{2}}$$
 (6.14)

The last three factors are also quadratic gates. Each of the other six factors in eq. (6.13) is of the form $e^{isJ_{\mu\nu}^2}$, where $s = \frac{\Delta t}{2}$ and $J_{\mu\nu} = -i(q_{\mu}p_{\nu} - q_{\nu}p_{\mu})$ $(\mu, \nu = 0, 1, 2, 3)$. They can be implemented with non-Gaussian Kerr gates \mathcal{K} and cross-Kerr gates \mathcal{K}' ,

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu}(s) = e^{isN_{\mu}^{2}}, \quad \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}'(s) = e^{isN_{\mu}N_{\nu}}, \quad N_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2}(p_{\mu}^{2} + q_{\mu}^{2}). \quad (6.15)$$

To this end, note that

$$J_{\mu\nu} = F^{\dagger}_{\mu} \cdot U_{\rm BS} \cdot (N_{\mu} - N_{\nu}) \cdot U_{\rm BS} \cdot F_{\mu} \,. \tag{6.16}$$

Therefore,

$$e^{isJ_{\mu\nu}^2} = F_{\mu}^{\dagger} \cdot U_{\rm BS}^{\dagger} \cdot \mathcal{K}_{\mu}(s) \cdot \mathcal{K}_{\nu}(s) \cdot \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}'(-2s) \cdot U_{\rm BS} \cdot F_{\mu}, \qquad (6.17)$$

where $F_{\mu} = e^{i\frac{\pi}{2}N_{\mu}}$ is the Fourier transform operator. The quantum circuit that implements the evolution operator in eq. (6.13) for a small time interval Δt is shown in figure 15.

Matrix elements of the evolution operator are of particular interest. The transition amplitude

$$G(t) = \langle \text{out} | e^{-itH^{\text{QC}}} | \text{in} \rangle$$
(6.18)

can be computed by Trotterizing the evolution operator and applying the quantum circuit shown in figure 15 $N \approx \frac{t}{\Delta t}$ times as well as operators $V_{\rm in}$ and $V_{\rm out}^{\dagger}$, before and after the evolution, respectively, where $|{\rm in}\rangle = V_{\rm in} |\mathbf{0}\rangle$ and $|{\rm out}\rangle = V_{\rm out} |\mathbf{0}\rangle$. Examples of quantum circuits implementing such operators are shown in figures 13 and 14.

6.1.2 Two plaquettes

For two plaquettes with open boundary conditions, the Hamiltonian is given by eq. (4.3). It can be simulated with two qumode quadruplets labeled by a = 1, 2, of quadratures $\mathbf{q}(a) = (q_0(a), \vec{q}(a))$ and $\mathbf{p}(a) = (p_0(a), \vec{p}(a))$. The Hamiltonian can be written as

$$H^{\text{QC}} = \frac{1}{2} \left([\vec{L}(1)]^2 + [\vec{K}(1)]^2 + 2[\vec{L}(2)]^2 + [\vec{K}(2)]^2 + \frac{1}{2}(\vec{K}(2) + 3\vec{L}(2)) \cdot (\vec{K}(1) - \vec{L}(1)) \right) + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left[(q_0(1) - 1)^2 + \vec{q}^2(1) + (q_0(2) - 1)^2 + \vec{q}^2(2) \right]$$
(6.19)

where $\vec{L}(a) = \vec{q}(a) \times \vec{p}(a)$ and $\vec{K}(a) = \vec{q}(a)p_0(a) - q_0(a)\vec{p}(a)$. The magnetic part of this Hamiltonian matches the expression in (4.3) after we impose the constraints $q_0^2(1) + \vec{q}^2(1) = q_0^2(2) + \vec{q}^2(2) = 1$ in the wavefunctions, as in the single plaquette case. The expression in (6.19) ensures that the Hamiltonian is bounded from below without having to impose the constraints to avoid numerical errors.

To compute energy levels with a variational method, we adopt the coupled cluster ansatz

$$|\Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)} = |\Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1)} \otimes |\Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(2)} , |\Psi_{1}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)} \propto (\boldsymbol{q}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(2) - \beta) |\Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$$
(6.20)

where $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle$ is the single-plaquette trial state given in eq. (6.8), to be compared with the classical trial states eq. (4.10) and eq. (4.12), for the two-plaquette ground and firstexcited state, respectively. The parameter β is fixed by demanding orthogonality of the two wavefunctions,

$$\beta = {}^{(1),(2)} \langle \Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha) | \boldsymbol{q}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(2) | \Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha) \rangle^{(1),(2)} = \left(\frac{I_2(2\alpha)}{I_1(2\alpha)}\right)^2$$
(6.21)

A straightforward calculation confirms agreement with the classical expressions,

$$\epsilon_{k}^{\text{QC}}(\alpha) = {}^{(1),(2)} \langle \Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha) | H^{\text{QC}} | \Psi_{0}^{\text{GT}}(\alpha) \rangle^{(1),(2)} = \epsilon_{k}(\alpha) , \quad k = 0, 1$$
(6.22)

Engineering the trial state $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$ is straightforward, as it is the product of two copies of the single-plaquette trial state in eq. (6.8). Therefore, it can be implemented with two copies of the quantum circuit depicted in figure 12. For the trial state $|\Psi_1^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$, after implementing the circuit that creates $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$, we introduce an ancilla qumode of quadratures $(q^{(c)}, p^{(c)})$ initialized in the coherent state $|\beta\gamma\rangle$, where γ is an adjustable parameter, and entangle it with the 8 qumodes of $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$ by applying four controlled displacement gates with *non-linear (quadratic) two-qumode control* targeting the ancilla qumode, collectively given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{(1),(2)}(\gamma) = e^{i\gamma q(1) \cdot q(2)p^{(c)}}.$$
(6.23)



Figure 16. Quantum circuit that generates a factor of the form $e^{-isq_{\mu}^2 p^{(a)}}$, eq. (6.25), for the non-linear controlled gate eq. (6.23).



Figure 17. Quantum circuit that generates the state eq. (6.26) from two copies of the single-plaquette trial state $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle$ (eq. (6.8)). It implements the trial state $|\Psi_1^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$ (eq. (6.20)) for small γ .

It can be implemented with balanced beam splitters and non-Gaussian cubic phase gates. We have

$$e^{i\gamma q_{\mu}(1)q_{\mu}(2)p^{(c)}} = U_{\rm BS} \cdot e^{i\gamma q_{\mu}^2(1)p^{(c)}} \cdot U_{\rm BS}^{\dagger}, \qquad (6.24)$$

where the non-Gaussian gate $e^{i\gamma q_{\mu}^2 p^{(c)}}$ is implemented as

$$e^{-i\gamma q_{\mu}^{2}p^{(c)}} = F_{c}^{\dagger} \cdot U_{\rm BS} \cdot e^{-i\frac{\gamma}{6}q_{\mu}^{3}} \cdot e^{i\frac{\gamma}{6}[q^{(c)}]^{3}} \cdot U_{\rm BS}^{\dagger} \cdot e^{i\frac{\gamma}{3}[q^{(c)}]^{3}} \cdot F_{c} , \qquad (6.25)$$

where $F = e^{i\frac{\pi}{4}(p^2+q^2)}$ is the Fourier transform operator and $U_{\rm BS}$ is the balanced-beamsplitter gate defined as $e^{-\frac{i}{4}(q_1p_2-p_1q_2)}$ for quinodes with quadratures (q_i, p_i) (i = 1, 2). The corresponding quantum circuit is shown in figure 16.

We then measure the ancilla quinode projecting it onto the single photon state. We arrive at the state

$$\left(\boldsymbol{q}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(2) - \beta\right) e^{-\frac{\gamma^2}{2} \left[\boldsymbol{q}(1) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(2) - \beta\right]^2} \left|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\right\rangle^{(1),(2)} . \tag{6.26}$$

By choosing a small γ (weak coherent source for the ancilla qumode), this state is a good approximation to the desired state $|\Psi_1^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle^{(1),(2)}$ (eq. (6.20)). The circuit that creates this state is shown in figure 17.

The time evolution is governed by the Hamiltonian eq. (6.19). It contains terms that involve a single qumode quadruplet, as in the single plaquette case discussed above, as well as terms that couple qumodes in different quadruplets, e.g., $\vec{L}(1) \cdot \vec{L}(2)$. The latter can also be implemented with similar quantum circuits as the ones already introduced above. A typical term of the two-plaquette Hamiltonian in eq. (6.19) involving qumodes from two quadruplets is $J_{\mu\nu}(1)J_{\rho\sigma}(2)$. Using eq. (6.16), the time evolution with this part of the Hamiltonian can be implemented with non-Gaussian cross-Kerr gates using the quantum circuit depicted in figure 18.



Figure 18. Quantum circuit for the evolution operator $\mathcal{U}(s) \equiv e^{-isJ_{\mu\nu}(1)J_{\rho\sigma}(2)}$ contributing to the time evolution of the Hamiltonian eq. (6.19) involving 4 queodes.

6.1.3 N plaquettes

A system on a lattice with N plaquettes can be simulated with N qumode quadruplets of quadratures (q(a), p(a)) (a = 1, 2, ..., N). N grows linearly with the volume. The Hamiltonian is of the form

$$H^{\rm QC} = \frac{1}{2} \sum J_{\mu\nu}(a) J_{\rho\sigma}(b) + \lambda \sum_{a} \left[q^2(a) - q_0(a) \right] , \qquad (6.27)$$

generalizing the 2-plaquette (N = 2) Hamiltonian eq. (6.19). Energy levels can be estimated with a coupled cluster ansatz. Generalizing eq. (6.20), we may use the trial states

$$|\Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle_N = \bigotimes_{a=1}^N |\Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle^{(a)} , \quad |\Psi_1^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle_N \propto \left(\sum_{a,b} A_{ab} \boldsymbol{q}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(b) - \beta\right) |\Psi_0^{\rm GT}(\alpha)\rangle_N \quad (6.28)$$

for the ground and first excited state, respectively. Here β is determined by demanding orthogonality, and the coefficients A_{ab} are chosen to match the normal mode of the lowest frequency in the coupled harmonic oscillator approximation, which is valid in the large λ limit (see eq. (4.24)).

To engineer the trial ground state $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N$, we need N copies of the quantum circuit in figure 12 which requires $\mathcal{O}(N)$ quantum resources. For the trial first excited state, we first create $|\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N$, and then implement a string of unitaries of the form eq. (6.23) (see the quantum circuit in figure 17). We need $\mathcal{O}(N^2)$ quantum resources for the implementation of the quantum circuits in this case.

As pointed out in section 5, the ansatz in eq. (6.28) fails to capture the vanishing behavior of the gap in the continuum limit. To remedy this, we introduce the modified trial states

$$|\Phi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N \propto e^{\alpha \sum_{ab} B_{ab} \boldsymbol{q}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(b)} |\Psi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N ,$$

$$|\Phi_1^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N \propto \left(\sum_{a,b} A_{ab} \boldsymbol{q}(a) \cdot \boldsymbol{q}(b) - \beta\right) |\Phi_0^{\text{GT}}(\alpha)\rangle_N$$

$$(6.29)$$

that simulate the ansatz eq. (5.16). For this ansatz, we ought to generate additional factors of the form $e^{sq(a)\cdot q(b)}$. This can be accomplished by generating factors

$$e^{-\frac{|s|}{2}(q(a)-\epsilon_s q(b))^2} = \prod_{\mu \in \{0,1,2,3\}} e^{-\frac{|s|}{2}(q_\mu(a)-\epsilon_s q_\mu(b))^2}, \quad \epsilon_s = \frac{s}{|s|}, \quad (6.30)$$

Such factors can be engineered with the aid of an ancilla qumode, as discussed before, and beam splitters. The quantum circuit for $\epsilon_s = -1$ (s < 0) is shown in figure 19. The corresponding circuit for $\epsilon_s = +1$ (s > 0) is similar.



Figure 19. Quantum circuit that generates a factor of the form $e^{-\frac{|s|}{2}(q_{\mu}(a)+q_{\mu}(b))^2}$ i.e., eq. (6.30) with $\epsilon_s = -1$ (s < 0), which is required to construct the trial states in eq. (6.29).

For the time evolution, after Trotterization, each term contributing to the Hamiltonian eq. (6.27) can be implemented independently for small time intervals. For the magnetic part of the Hamiltonian, we need to implement Gaussian displacement operators, $e^{i\lambda\Delta tq_0(a)}$, and quadratic phase gates $e^{-i\lambda\Delta tq_{\mu}^2(a)}$. All terms of the electric part of the Hamiltonian are of the form $e^{-isJ_{\mu\nu}(a)J_{\rho\sigma}(b)}$ and can be implemented with quantum circuits of the form shown in figure 18.

Each plaquette in our simulation is represented using eight qumodes: four encoding the physical degrees of freedom and four ancillary modes used to project onto the gaugeinvariant subspace. For a system with N plaquettes, the total resource cost scales linearly, i.e., $\mathcal{O}(N)$.

To simulate time evolution, we employ a first-order Suzuki-Trotter decomposition, which requires $\mathcal{O}(t^2/\epsilon)$ steps to reach a fixed precision ϵ over a total simulation time t. Within each step, the magnetic part of the Hamiltonian scales linearly with system size, $\mathcal{O}(N)$, while the electric part includes $N^2 + 2N - 2$ terms due to non-local interactions introduced by gauge fixing. Thus, the per-step computational complexity scales as $\mathcal{O}(N^2)$.

The electric Hamiltonian involves Kerr-type and cross-Kerr-type interactions, each requiring gate parameters of strength s (see eq. (6.15)). Experimental realizations in superconducting microwave cavities have demonstrated Kerr nonlinearities $\chi \sim 10$ MHz, enabling gate times of $\sim 0.1 \,\mu$ s and corresponding to a dimensionless gate strength $s \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ [38, 39]. Given that the energy gap of our system scales as $\Delta E \sim \sqrt{\lambda}$, a simulation time of $t \sim 1/\sqrt{\lambda} \sim 0.1 \,\mathrm{s}$ suffices for a moderately strong coupling $\lambda = 100$. Achieving a target precision $\epsilon = 0.001$ would thus require approximately 10 Trotter steps.

However, such strong Kerr interactions have thus far only been demonstrated within microwave cavity platforms, primarily in the context of Kerr-cat qubits. It remains uncertain whether those architectures can be adapted to perform standalone Kerr gates in more general CV quantum computing setups. In contrast, nonlinear optical crystals, while widely accessible, exhibit weak Kerr coefficients, which severely limits achievable gate strengths and renders direct implementation impractical.

To circumvent this, one can decompose Kerr gates using a combination of squeezing, displacement, and cubic phase gates, which are more experimentally viable [40]. This mapping effectively replaces each Kerr gate with a composite sequence of Gaussian and fifteen non-Gaussian (cubic phase) gates, resulting in a $\mathcal{O}(10)$ increase in gate count for the electric sector of the Trotterized evolution.

6.2 QC with qumode triplets

In this subsection, we discuss an alternative approach to QC with qumodes that avoids redundant degrees of freedom. Instead of using four independent qumodes to simulate an SU(2) matrix, we can first solve the constraint $u_0^2 + \vec{u}^2 = 1$ to express u_0 in terms of the other three components and then use a triplet of qumodes to simulate \vec{u} . Apart from utilizing fewer resources, this approach avoids errors associated with restricting the support of the wavefunction. An additional important advantage is that it simulates the system at large- λ efficiently because, in that regime, the system reduces to a set of coupled three-dimensional harmonic oscillators. The energy gap in the large λ limit can be computed exactly without having to resort to a variational method.

The drawback is that as one goes away from large λ limit, the Hamiltonian is no longer polynomial in the quadratures. To address this, one has to expand the non-polynomial expressions, e.g., $u_0 = \sqrt{1 - \vec{u}^2} = 1 - \frac{1}{2}\vec{u}^2 + \ldots$, and truncate the expansion. This is equivalent to a weak-coupling expansion (in $1/\sqrt{\lambda} \sim g^2$). As we have discussed, at leading order the system reduces to a set of coupled three-dimensional harmonic oscillators. It is conveniently described by its normal modes. When higher-order terms are included in the Hamiltonian, it is easier to express them in terms of the original coordinates of the coupled harmonic oscillators. It is therefore important to implement the transformation \mathcal{G} between coupled harmonic oscillators and normal modes efficiently.

For a single plaquette, there is only one harmonic oscillator, so trivially, $\mathcal{G} = \mathbb{I}$. For two plaquettes, the transformation is implemented with a 50:50 beam splitter, $\mathcal{G} = U_{\text{BS}}$. In general, for N plaquettes, \mathcal{G} can be implemented efficiently with $N \times N$ interferometers and single-mode squeezers, according to the Bloch-Messiah singular-value decomposition [41–43].

The computation of matrix elements of the time evolution operator e^{-itH} are less problematic with triplets because there is no spreading into the unphysical phase space due to finite squeezing and, hence, the error is under better control. Another advantage of this approach is that it better captures the next-to-leading-order contribution to the gap. This is important because at leading order the gap vanishes in the large volume limit, whereas next-to-leading-order corrections yield a finite gap [6, 8]. We will discuss this approach further in future work.

6.3 Discussion of errors

There are various sources of error that affect the simulation of SU(2) lattice gauge theory using CV quantum computation. These fall broadly into two categories: experimental (hardware-related) and algorithmic (theory- and method-related).

Experimental error sources include:

• Finite squeezing. Practical implementations on CV hardware (e.g., optical, superconducting or trapped-ion platforms) suffer from finite squeezing. This limits the fidelity of both state preparation and gate execution. For example, in figure 12, a realistic implementation of the initial state $|p = s\rangle_a$ of the ancilla qumode would be with a squeezed state.

- Measurement resolution. The enforcement of the constraint $q^2 = 1$ relies on postselection via homodyne measurements (see, e.g., figure 12 where the phase quadrature of the ancilla qumode is measured). Imperfect resolution or finite bandwidth in detectors results in leakage from the physical subspace and introduces error in the effective Hamiltonian evolution.
- Non-Gaussian gate errors. Implementation of non-linear operations such as the cubic phase gate [44–46] and conditional displacements are prone to high noise and operational inaccuracy, which impact the ability to project onto gauge-invariant states.
- Photon loss and decoherence. qumodes are susceptible to photon loss and decoherence over time, which can accumulate during the multiple gate operations required in variational algorithms and time evolution.

Algorithmic error sources include:

- Variational ansatz limitations. The coupled cluster ansatz performs well at small lattices but breaks down in the large-volume limit (such as the square lattices with a large number of plaquettes discussed here) unless improved with higher-order correlations (e.g., two-body terms; see eq. (6.29)). This is evident in the underestimated energy gaps compared to known asymptotic scaling.
- Gauge fixing artifacts. While the maximal tree gauge greatly simplifies the Hilbert space, residual global gauge ambiguities and non-uniformity in link treatments across the lattice can introduce systematic errors in finite-size simulations.
- Approximate Trotterization. For real-time evolution, errors also arise from Trotter decomposition of the Hamiltonian, particularly when simulating non-commuting electric and magnetic terms. The scaling of such errors with time step Δt and system size must be carefully managed.

A comprehensive study of how these various error sources scale with lattice size and coupling strength is crucial for practical quantum simulation of non-Abelian gauge theories with qumodes. While the quantum algorithms proposed in this work are designed for near-term simulations and can operate without full error correction in small-scale systems, long-time evolutions or large-volume lattice simulations will eventually require robust error correction mechanisms. In continuous-variable (CV) platforms, a promising avenue is the use of bosonic error-correcting codes such as the Gottesman-Kitaev-Preskill (GKP) code [44], which encodes logical information into grid states of harmonic oscillators and can correct small displacement errors. Experimental progress in implementing GKP and other bosonic codes (e.g., cat and binomial codes) has been reported in superconducting circuits and trapped ions, offering a pathway toward fault-tolerant CV quantum computing. In the absence of full error correction, short-time simulations may still benefit from error mitigation techniques, including postselection and variational optimization, particularly for few-plaquette benchmark systems. We leave the detailed integration of CV error correction with lattice gauge simulations as an important direction for future work.

7 Summary and future directions

In this work, we introduced a novel approach to study SU(2) lattice gauge theory using continuous-variable (CV) quantum computation. We validated this quantum computational framework by comparing it against known theoretical results. We started by implementing the CV quantum computation to solve the dynamics of a single SU(2) plaquette. Using quinodes to represent the gauge degrees of freedom, we calculated the energy spectrum and validated it against exact analytical results. This demonstrates that the CV quantum approach accurately captures the gauge theory's essential dynamics and energy structure. We extended the method to a ladder of N plaquettes and a two-dimensional grid of $N \times N$ plaquettes, for which we computed the ground states and energy gaps. We benchmarked these results against traditional methods, such as the weak coupling approximation and exact diagonalization. The quantum simulations showed good agreement with known results, validating the use of CV quedes to simulate multi-plaquette systems. We discussed two distinct quantum computational approaches for encoding the SU(2) gauge group into quinodes: Using either quadruplets or triplets of quinodes per physical link. These quantum computational methods may offer a scalable and efficient path for simulating more complex gauge theories.

Our work provides a foundation for using CV quantum computation to study SU(2) lattice gauge theory, offering a promising direction for tackling the complexities of gauge theories in 3 + 1 dimensions. The ability to encode the infinite degrees of freedom of gauge fields into a CV framework reduces the challenge of digitizing the theory, particularly for problems that require capturing real-time dynamics or strong coupling regimes where traditional Monte Carlo methods struggle. As quantum hardware advances toward fault tolerance, CV quantum computing may become an important tool for studying non-Abelian gauge theories, enabling precise simulation of phenomena like quark confinement, topological phases, and high-energy scattering processes in QCD.

The extension of our approach to more complex gauge groups, such as SU(3), holds significant potential. This would open the door to quantum simulation of QCD and could provide new insights into the behavior of the strong interaction. An alternative interesting route to SU(3) is to consider irreducible Schwinger bosons, as discussed in ref. [47]. Additionally, incorporating tensor network techniques and hybrid classical-quantum algorithms could further optimize the method for near-term quantum devices. As quantum computing technology continues to evolve, the continuous-variable framework may play a critical role in addressing open problems in particle physics, such as exploring the real-time dynamics of gauge theories, thermalization processes, and out-of-equilibrium phenomena in subatomic physics.

Future work will also focus on refining error mitigation techniques specific to CV systems and the exploration of hybrid approaches that combine discrete variables (qubits) and CV substrates (qumodes) [48–50]. The ultimate goal will be to scale these methods using fault-tolerant quantum computers allowing for the simulation of real-world quantum field theories.

Acknowledgments

We thank Shane Thompson for useful discussions and collaboration during the early stages of this work. We acknowledge support by DOE ASCR funding under the Quantum Computing Application Teams Program, NSF award DGE-2152168, and DOE Office of Nuclear Physics, Quantum Horizons Program, award DE-SC0023687. This research used resources of the Oak Ridge Leadership Computing Facility, which is a DOE Office of Science User Facility supported under Contract DE-AC05-00OR22725. This material is based upon work supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, Contract No. DE-AC05-06OR23177, under which Jefferson Science Associates, LLC operates Jefferson Lab. The research was also supported by the U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Science, National Quantum Information Science Research Centers, Co-design Center for Quantum Advantage under contract number DE-SC0012704 and the DOE, Office of Science, Office of Nuclear Physics, Early Career Program under contract No DE-SC0024358 / DE-SC0025881.

Data Availability Statement. This article has no associated data or the data will not be deposited.

Code Availability Statement. This article has no associated code or the code will not be deposited.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] K.G. Wilson, Confinement of Quarks, Phys. Rev. D 10 (1974) 2445 [INSPIRE].
- [2] P. Silvi, E. Rico, T. Calarco and S. Montangero, Lattice Gauge Tensor Networks, New J. Phys. 16 (2014) 103015 [arXiv:1404.7439] [INSPIRE].
- [3] T. Pichler et al., Real-time Dynamics in U(1) Lattice Gauge Theories with Tensor Networks, Phys. Rev. X 6 (2016) 011023 [arXiv:1505.04440] [INSPIRE].
- [4] J. Bloch, R.G. Jha, R. Lohmayer and M. Meister, Tensor renormalization group study of the three-dimensional O(2) model, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 094517 [arXiv:2105.08066] [INSPIRE].
- [5] G. Cataldi, G. Magnifico, P. Silvi and S. Montangero, Simulating (2+1)D SU(2) Yang-Mills lattice gauge theory at finite density with tensor networks, Phys. Rev. Res. 6 (2024) 033057
 [arXiv:2307.09396] [INSPIRE].
- [6] R.P. Feynman, The Qualitative Behavior of Yang-Mills Theory in (2+1)-Dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 188 (1981) 479 [INSPIRE].
- J.B. Kogut and L. Susskind, Hamiltonian Formulation of Wilson's Lattice Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. D 11 (1975) 395 [INSPIRE].
- [8] V.F. Müller and W. Ruhl, The Energy Gap of SU(2) Lattice Gauge Theory in (2+1)-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 230 (1984) 49 [INSPIRE].
- [9] J.B. Bronzan, Explicit Hamiltonian for SU(2) lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 2020 [INSPIRE].

- [10] N.E. Ligterink, N.R. Walet and R.F. Bishop, Towards a many body treatment of Hamiltonian lattice SU(N) gauge theory, Annals Phys. 284 (2000) 215 [hep-lat/0001028] [INSPIRE].
- [11] M. Mathur, Harmonic oscillator prepotentials in SU(2) lattice gauge theory, J. Phys. A 38 (2005) 10015 [hep-lat/0403029] [INSPIRE].
- M. Mathur, The loop states in lattice gauge theories, Phys. Lett. B 640 (2006) 292 [hep-lat/0510101] [INSPIRE].
- [13] I. Raychowdhury and J.R. Stryker, Loop, string, and hadron dynamics in SU(2) Hamiltonian lattice gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 114502 [arXiv:1912.06133] [INSPIRE].
- [14] E. Zohar, J.I. Cirac and B. Reznik, Cold-Atom Quantum Simulator for SU(2) Yang-Mills Lattice Gauge Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 125304 [arXiv:1211.2241] [INSPIRE].
- [15] D. Banerjee et al., Atomic Quantum Simulation of U(N) and SU(N) Non-Abelian Lattice Gauge Theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 125303 [arXiv:1211.2242] [INSPIRE].
- [16] S. Kühn, E. Zohar, J.I. Cirac and M.C. Bañuls, Non-Abelian string breaking phenomena with Matrix Product States, JHEP 07 (2015) 130 [arXiv:1505.04441] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Mezzacapo et al., Non-Abelian SU(2) Lattice Gauge Theories in Superconducting Circuits, Phys. Rev. Lett. 115 (2015) 240502 [arXiv:1505.04720] [INSPIRE].
- [18] N. Klco, J.R. Stryker and M.J. Savage, SU(2) non-Abelian gauge field theory in one dimension on digital quantum computers, Phys. Rev. D 101 (2020) 074512 [arXiv:1908.06935] [INSPIRE].
- [19] Z. Davoudi, I. Raychowdhury and A. Shaw, Search for efficient formulations for Hamiltonian simulation of non-Abelian lattice gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 074505
 [arXiv:2009.11802] [INSPIRE].
- [20] S. A Rahman, R. Lewis, E. Mendicelli and S. Powell, SU(2) lattice gauge theory on a quantum annealer, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 034501 [arXiv:2103.08661] [INSPIRE].
- [21] A. Ciavarella, N. Klco and M.J. Savage, Trailhead for quantum simulation of SU(3) Yang-Mills lattice gauge theory in the local multiplet basis, Phys. Rev. D 103 (2021) 094501
 [arXiv:2101.10227] [INSPIRE].
- [22] R.C. Farrell et al., Preparations for quantum simulations of quantum chromodynamics in 1+1 dimensions. I. Axial gauge, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 054512 [arXiv:2207.01731] [INSPIRE].
- [23] Z. Davoudi, A.F. Shaw and J.R. Stryker, General quantum algorithms for Hamiltonian simulation with applications to a non-Abelian lattice gauge theory, Quantum 7 (2023) 1213
 [arXiv:2212.14030] [INSPIRE].
- [24] A. Alexandru et al., Fuzzy gauge theory for quantum computers, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 094502
 [arXiv:2308.05253] [INSPIRE].
- [25] B. Müller and X. Yao, Simple Hamiltonian for quantum simulation of strongly coupled (2+1)D SU(2) lattice gauge theory on a honeycomb lattice, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 094505
 [arXiv:2307.00045] [INSPIRE].
- [26] I. D'Andrea, C.W. Bauer, D.M. Grabowska and M. Freytsis, New basis for Hamiltonian SU(2) simulations, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 074501 [arXiv:2307.11829] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G. Calajò et al., Digital Quantum Simulation of a (1+1)D SU(2) Lattice Gauge Theory with Ion Qudits, PRX Quantum 5 (2024) 040309 [arXiv:2402.07987] [INSPIRE].
- [28] A. Mariani, Almost gauge-invariant states and the ground state of Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 094508 [arXiv:2402.16743] [INSPIRE].

- [29] B. Assi and H. Lamm, Digitization and subduction of SU(N) gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 074511 [arXiv:2405.12204] [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Creutz, Gauge Fixing, the Transfer Matrix, and Confinement on a Lattice, Phys. Rev. D 15 (1977) 1128 [INSPIRE].
- [31] C. Gattringer and C.B. Lang, Quantum chromodynamics on the lattice, Springer, Berlin, Germany (2010) [D0I:10.1007/978-3-642-01850-3] [INSPIRE].
- [32] M. Carena, H. Lamm, Y.-Y. Li and W. Liu, Quantum error thresholds for gauge-redundant digitizations of lattice field theories, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024) 054516 [arXiv:2402.16780] [INSPIRE].
- [33] D.M. Grabowska, C.F. Kane and C.W. Bauer, A Fully Gauge-Fixed SU(2) Hamiltonian for Quantum Simulations, arXiv: 2409.10610 [INSPIRE].
- [34] R.G. Jha, F. Ringer, G. Siopsis and S. Thompson, Continuous-variable quantum computation of the O(3) model in 1+1 dimensions, Phys. Rev. A 109 (2024) 052412 [arXiv:2310.12512]
 [INSPIRE].
- [35] R.G. Jha, F. Ringer, G. Siopsis and S. Thompson, Quantum computations of the O(3) model using qumodes, PoS LATTICE2023 (2024) 230 [arXiv:2308.06946] [INSPIRE].
- [36] A. Bazavov, S. Catterall, R.G. Jha and J. Unmuth-Yockey, Tensor renormalization group study of the non-Abelian Higgs model in two dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 114507 [arXiv:1901.11443] [INSPIRE].
- [37] S.A. Chin, O.S. Van Roosmalen, E.A. Umland and S.E. Koonin, Exact ground state properties of the SU(2) Hamiltonian lattice gauge theory, Phys. Rev. D 31 (1985) 3201 [INSPIRE].
- [38] A. Vrajitoarea et al., Quantum control of an oscillator using a stimulated Josephson nonlinearity, Nature Phys. 16 (2020) 211 [INSPIRE].
- [39] A. Grimm et al., Stabilization and operation of a Kerr-cat qubit, Nature 584 (2020) 205 [INSPIRE].
- [40] T. Kalajdzievski and N. Quesada, Exact and approximate continuous-variable gate decompositions, Quantum 5 (2021) 394.
- [41] S.L. Braunstein, Squeezing as an irreducible resource, Phys. Rev. A 71 (2005) 055801
 [quant-ph/9904002] [INSPIRE].
- [42] K. Marshall, R. Pooser, G. Siopsis and C. Weedbrook, Quantum simulation of quantum field theory using continuous variables, Phys. Rev. A 92 (2015) 063825 [arXiv:1503.08121]
 [INSPIRE].
- [43] R.A. Briceño et al., Toward coherent quantum computation of scattering amplitudes with a measurement-based photonic quantum processor, Phys. Rev. Res. 6 (2024) 043065
 [arXiv:2312.12613] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Gottesman, A. Kitaev and J. Preskill, Encoding a qubit in an oscillator, Phys. Rev. A 64 (2001) 012310 [quant-ph/0008040] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Yukawa et al., Emulating quantum cubic nonlinearity, Phys. Rev. A 88 (2013) 053816.
- [46] K. Marshall, R. Pooser, G. Siopsis and C. Weedbrook, Repeat-until-success cubic phase gate for universal continuous-variable quantum computation, Phys. Rev. A 91 (2015) 032321.
- [47] R. Anishetty, M. Mathur and I. Raychowdhury, Irreducible SU(3) Schhwinger Bosons, J. Math. Phys. 50 (2009) 053503 [arXiv:0901.0644] [INSPIRE].

- [48] Z. Davoudi, N.M. Linke and G. Pagano, Toward simulating quantum field theories with controlled phonon-ion dynamics: A hybrid analog-digital approach, Phys. Rev. Res. 3 (2021) 043072 [arXiv:2104.09346] [INSPIRE].
- [49] E. Crane et al., Hybrid Oscillator-Qubit Quantum Processors: Simulating Fermions, Bosons, and Gauge Fields, arXiv:2409.03747 [INSPIRE].
- [50] J.Y. Araz, M. Grau, J. Montgomery and F. Ringer, *Toward hybrid quantum simulations with qubits and qumodes on trapped-ion platforms*, arXiv:2410.07346 [INSPIRE].